IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
Plaintiff,)
v.) SUPREME COURT No. 20-1346
RODRIGO AMAYA,) Polk County FECR333390
Defendant/Appellee,)
STATE PUBLIC DEFENDER)
Appellant)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE SARAH CRANE, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

/s/ William Bushell
WILIAM BUSHELL
Assistant Public Defender
bbushell@spd.state.ia.us
STATE PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 725-2228 / (515) 281-72891 FAX
Attorney for the Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Form of Appeal

Authorities

Iowa R. App. P. 6.103
Iowa Code § 13B.4
Greenwood v. SPD, 901 N.W.2d 529 (Iowa App. 2017)
Iowa R. App. P. 6.107
Iowa R. App. P. 6.104
Iowa Code § 814.4
Iowa R. App. P. 6.108

2. The Mechanics of 815.1

Authorities

Iowa Code § 815.1

3. English v. Missildine

Authorities

English v. Missildine, 311 N.W.2d 294 (Iowa 1981)

4. Iowa Code § 815.1

Authorities

Iowa Code Section 815.1

5. The Standard of Review in a Constitutional Challenge to a Statute

Authorities

State v. Thompson, 836 N.W.2d 470 (Iowa 2013)

6. The Statute does not Deny the Defendant the right to Counsel, The Right to Effective Assistance of Counsel, or the Right to Hire Counsel of Choice

Authorities

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963)
Hall v. Washington, 2 Greene 473 (Iowa 1850)
English v. Missildine, 311 N.W.2d 294 (Iowa 1981)

7. The Statute does not Deny the Defendant Due Process of Law

Authorities

U.S. Constitution Amendments 5 and 4
Iowa Constitution Art. I §§ 1, 6, 9, & 10
State v. Fleming, 790 N.W.2d 560 (Iowa 2010)
Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292 (1993)
State v. Klawonn, 609 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 2000)
State v. Hernandez Lopez, 639 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 2002)
U.S. v. Gonzalez Lopez, 548 U.S. 140 (2006)
English v. Missildine, 311 N.W.2d 294 (Iowa 1981)
Senate File 590

8. The Statute does not Offend Equal Protection by Treating the Defendant Differently than other Similarly Situated Defendants

Authorities

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)
Bierkamp v. Rogers, 293 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 1980)
Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985)

9. Policy Considerations

Authorities

Tran v. Superior Court, 112 Ca. Rptr.2d 506 (Cal. App. 2001)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because this is a case presenting a substantial constitutional question as to the validity of a statute and the case also involves an issue of first impression. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(a)&(c).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of Defendant's constitutional challenge to Iowa Code § 815.1 (the statute). Defense counsel in this matter is privately retained. Counsel requested public funds for an investigator and funds to conduct depositions. In his motion Defendant did not provide any of the information required by the statute and argued that the statute was unconstitutional under both the U.S. and Iowa Constitutions. The matter was set for hearing and briefed by both parties. The court granted the motion finding that the hourly rate portion of the statute was unconstitutional as applied under the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. The court reasoned that using the court appointed hourly rate from Iowa Code § 815.7 in the statute's calculation forced counsel to work at the court appointed

hourly rate instead of the agreed upon higher hourly rate. The trial court rewrote the statute and used counsel's agreed upon hourly rate in performing the calculation required Iowa Code 815.1 (4)(c)(1). The State Public Defender filed Notice of Appeal from this final order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 27, 2019 the State filed at Trial Information charging the Defendant with felony and misdemeanor sex abuse offenses.¹ Appx. p. 9. On March 26, 2020 Defendant filed an appearance on behalf of the Defendant as privately retained counsel.² Appx. p. 12. On 6/14/2020, defense counsel filed a motion for private investigator and depositions at State expense.³ Appx. p. 13. The Court previously found Defendant to be indigent.⁴ Appx. p. 6. On 6/24/2020, the State Public Defender (hereinafter SPD) filed a resistance to the motion for auxiliary services at state expense.⁵ Appx. p. 37. The SPD does not contest Amaya's indigency, nor does the SPD contest the

¹ Trial Information Approved by the Honorable John Lloyd, S.J. Fifth Judicial District,

² Appearance Filed by Benjamin Bergmann.

³ Motion for Services at state expense and Motion to Declare 815.1 Unconstitutional, Filed by Benjamin Bergmann.

⁴ Order of Initial Appearance, filed on November 16, 2019 by Kimberly Ayotte, D.A.J. Fifth Judicial District.

⁵ SPD's Resistance, p. 2, filed by William Bushell, Assistant State Public Defender.

reasonableness of the requested services.⁶ Appx. p. 62. The SPD first argued that the Defense had not provided any information required by Iowa Code § 815.1 and the request should be denied.⁷ Appx. p. 62. The Court ordered defense counsel to provide the information required by section 815.1 regarding the attorneys' fees and expected hours to litigate this case.⁸ Appx. p. 58. Counsel provided that, defendant or third parties have provided defense counsel with a retainer of \$15,000.⁹ Appx. p. 62. At the time of filings, Defense Counsel Ben Bergmann had performed 16.1 hours and estimated that it would require an additional 70 hours to finish the case.¹⁰ Appx. p. 62. Bergmann's agreed upon hourly rate is \$300 in this case.¹¹ Appx. p. 62. Judge Crane, rewriting the statute took the \$300 hourly rate times the total hours of 86.1 which resulted in a calculated product of \$25,830.¹² Appx. p. 62. Since this product exceeded the \$15,000 retainer the

⁶ Court's Order Granting the Request, p. 2, filed on September 22, 2020 by the honorable Sarah Crane, District Court Judge, Fifth Judicial District.

⁷ Court's Order Granting the Request, p. 2, filed on September 22, 2020 by the honorable Sarah Crane, District Court Judge, Fifth Judicial District.

⁸ Order Requiring Additional Defense Information p. 1, filed on August 13, 2020 by the honorable Sarah Crane, District Court Judge, Fifth Judicial District.

⁹ Final Order, p 2.

¹⁰ Id.

¹¹ Exhibit 1C, Attorney Fee Agreement.

¹² Id.

court opined that the retainer was insufficient to cover the cost of the requested service and that the requested service should be provided at public expense.¹³ Appx. p. 68. In early October the SPD received a copy of the Final Order, attached to a similar application in Dubuque County. On October 19, 2020 the SPD filed its timely Notice of Appeal. Appx. p. 70.

ARGUMENT

1. FORM OF APPEAL

The correct form for this appeal is an appeal as a matter of right, for the state public defender. Pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.103(1)¹⁴ and Iowa Code § 13B.4(4)(d)(7)¹⁵, this is an appeal as a matter of right for the state public defender. (See also Greewood v. SPD),¹⁶ “the legislature amended section 13B.4(4) in 2006 to permit either a fee claimant or the State Public

¹³ Final Order p. 2.

¹⁴ 6.103(1) Final order and judgment defined. All final orders and judgments of the district court involving the merits or materially affecting the final decision may be appealed to the Supreme Court, except as provided in this rule, rule 6.105, and Iowa Code sections 814.5 and 814.6. An order granting or denying a new trial is a final order. An order setting aside a default judgment in an action for dissolution of marriage or annulment is a final order. An order setting aside a default judgment in any other action is not a final order.

¹⁵ The decision of the court following a hearing on the motion is a final judgment appealable by the state public defender or the claimant.

¹⁶ 901 N.W.2d 529, 531 (Iowa App. 2017).

Defender to appeal a final judgment following judicial review of a fee claim denial.”). While this situation is not identical to Greenwood, absent other authority on the matter for the SPD in an 815.1 case, in which the SPD is the aggrieved party, appeal as a matter of right is the appropriate form of review. For the SPD, other forms of review don’t fit this situation well.

For example, Writ of Certiorari pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.107¹⁷ does not apply to this situation because it cannot be alleged that the district court acted unlawfully. While the court’s order is contrary to the legislation in question, the court found the statute unconstitutional first.¹⁸

Also, for the SPD, interlocutory review pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.104¹⁹ does not fit well. As far as the SPD is concerned the court’s order on the 815.1 issue is the final order. The SPD is not indexed to the case and would not know when a final order is entered in the underlying criminal case.

Further, it could be argued that this is a final order but review would

¹⁷ Any party claiming a district court judge, an associate district court judge, an associate juvenile judge, or an associate probate judge exceeded the judge’s jurisdiction or otherwise acted illegally may commence an original certiorari action in the Supreme Court by filing a petition for writ of certiorari as provided in these rules.

¹⁸ Final Order p. 2.

¹⁹ Any party aggrieved by an interlocutory ruling or order of the district court may apply to the supreme court for permission to appeal in advance of final judgment.

be discretionary review pursuant to Iowa. R. App. P. 6.106²⁰ Discretionary review does not fit this situation very well because there is no statute specifying that an 815.1 order is discretionarily reviewable.

Lastly, if the court's order in this case is not a final order, reviewable as a matter of right, similar to a final order in a fee claim hearing, pursuant to Iowa Code § 13B.4(4)(d)(7); the SPD need only wait for a fee claim to be presented, deny the fee claim, have a hearing on fee claim, and then appeal, if unsuccessful, as a matter of right at that stage. That doesn't seem fair to the vendor who has performed a service with the expectation of payment, only to have the fees attacked collaterally, after the work is already done.

Direct appeal as a matter of right is the proper form of review, when the SPD is the aggrieved party, in a hearing pursuant to Iowa Code § 815.1.

The question might arise, what is the proper form of appeal, if the client is the aggrieved party? There are possible answers. First, the court could treat the SPD and the client the same. A client who wishes to appeal the denial of ancillary service or otherwise disagrees with the 815.1 order could have the right to direct appeal, just like the SPD. The other choices are the

²⁰ An application for discretionary review may be filed with the clerk of the Supreme Court to review certain orders specified by statute which are not subject to appeal as a matter of right.

aggrieved client could appeal interlocutory or wait until there is a final disposition in the underlying criminal case (sentencing), and appeal the 815.1 order along with any other alleged error in the case.

For the aggrieved client in an 815.1 application the proper form of review should be to wait until there is a disposition in the case and appeal pursuant to Iowa Code § 814.6²¹ like a suppression issue. In a suppression issue the aggrieved client could appeal interlocutory pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.104. This Court could choose whether or not to review the 815.1 issue interlocutory.

The proper form of review for the SPD, aggrieved in an 815.1 issue, is appeal as a matter of right, from a final order. If, however this court does not

²¹ 1. Right of appeal is granted the defendant from:

a. A final judgment of sentence, except in the following cases:

(1) A simple misdemeanor conviction.

(2) An ordinance violation.

(3) A conviction where the defendant has pled guilty. This subparagraph does not apply to a guilty plea for a class "A" felony or in a case where the defendant establishes good cause.

b. An order for the commitment of the defendant for insanity or drug addiction.

2. Discretionary review may be available in the following cases:

a. An order suppressing or admitting evidence.

b. An order granting or denying a motion for a change of venue.

c. An order denying probation.

d. Simple misdemeanor and ordinance violation convictions.

e. An order raising a question of law important to the judiciary and the profession.

f. An order denying a motion in arrest of judgment on grounds other than an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Iowa Code Ann. § 814.6 (2019).

agree, pursuant to rule 6.108, it is requested this court proceed as if the correct form of review had been requested.

2. THE MECHANICS OF THE IOWA CODE § 815.1

Iowa Code § 815.1 does very reasonable things. First, the statute allows the court to look at the finances of the representation. Second, the statute requires counsel to use up the retainer before accessing public funds. Third, the statute makes the client and the prospective private attorney consider ancillary costs when contemplating private representation. Lastly, the statute helps avoid fraud and abuse of public funds.

3. ENGLISH V. MISSILDINE²²

In 1981 the Iowa Supreme Court held that an indigent Defendant represented by privately retained counsel was entitled to reasonable and necessary funds for an expert and depositions at state expense.²³ I realize that this brief refers to the English v. Missildine case by Missildine and that it might be more appropriate to refer to the case as English, but the case has been referred to as Missildine for so long in common parlance that I chose to

²² 311 N.W.2d 294 (Iowa 1981).

²³ Id. at 294.

stay with that nomenclature. In Missildine, the Court reasoned that because there were no statutes, rules, or procedures in place at the time, the right to investigative services, by an indigent person represented by a privately retained attorney, could be found in the Sixth Amendment of the Constitution.²⁴

4. IOWA CODE § 815.1

Iowa Code § 815.1 allows the payment of auxiliary services in cases with a privately retained attorney if the following criteria are met: The Defendant must make a showing to the court that the requested service is reasonable and necessary for the representation.²⁵ The Defendant must also provide a copy of the attorney's fee agreement, the agreed upon hourly rate, the amount of the retainer, the number of hours worked in the case to date, and the expected or anticipated hours needed to finish the case.²⁶ The Defendant must also provide an accounting of all compensation paid to the attorney, how much of the retainer has been earned, and any information about

²⁴ Id at 293.

²⁵ 815.1 (2)(b)(2019).

²⁶ Id. § (2)(a).

additional costs to be paid or owed by the client.²⁷ The Defendant must provide a financial affidavit signed by the client.²⁸ The Defendant must also submit a copy of the documents to the SPD.²⁹ The reviewing court shall not grant the application unless all the following conditions are met: the client must be indigent and unable to pay for the requested service, the requested service must be reasonable and necessary in the case, and the retainer paid by the client or on behalf of the client must be insufficient to pay for all or some of the requested service.³⁰ At this point the court must do some simple math. Using the information provided by the Defendant the court determines the total hours for the case by adding the hours worked to date to the anticipated hours to finish the case. The total hours is multiplied by the court appointed hourly rate from Iowa Code § 815.7, for the level of offense charged, which results in the ‘calculated product’.³¹ If the ‘calculated product’ is greater than the retainer received or to be received the court may authorize the requested service at state expense.³² If the ‘calculated product

²⁷ Id. §§ (c)-(e).

²⁸ Id. § (f).

²⁹ Id. § 3.

³⁰ Id. § (4)(a)-(c).

³¹ Id. § (4)(c)(1).

³² Id. § (4)(c)(2).

is less than the retainer received or to be received then the retainer is considered sufficient to pay for the requested service. In short the statute does very reasonable things. First, the statute allows the court to look at or review the finances of the representation. Second, the statute requires that the retainer be used up before the expenditure of public funds. Next, the statute makes the client and the prospective private attorney consider and account for ancillary services as part of the retainer. Lastly, the statute helps avoid fraud and abuse of public funds. When a client is deciding to hire a private attorney or be represented by court appointed counsel they must factor in the costs of the representation, including ancillary services.

5. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IN A CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGE TO A STATUTE

Since this is a constitutional challenge to a statute it is important to note the standard of review and presumptions for a challenge to the constitutionality of a statute. Our supreme court summarized it best in State v. Thompson.³³ Appellate Courts review constitutional challenges to a statute de novo.³⁴ In doing so, courts must remember that statutes are

³³ 836 N.W.2d 470, 483 (Iowa 2013)(internal citations omitted).

³⁴ Id.

cloaked with a presumption of constitutionality.³⁵ The challenger bears a heavy burden, because they must show that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.³⁶ Moreover, ‘the challenger must refute every reasonable basis upon which the statute could be found to be constitutional.’³⁷ Furthermore, if the statute is capable of being construed in more than one manner, one of which is constitutional, reviewing courts must adopt that construction.³⁸

6. THE STATUTE DOES NOT DENY THE DEFENDANT THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL, THE RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, OR THE RIGHT TO HIRE PRIVATE COUNSEL OF CHOICE

Iowa has a long history of protecting the rights of the accused. Long before the landmark case Gideon v. Wainwright³⁹ the Iowa Supreme Court held in Hall v. Washington that “[C]itizens have rights guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution and the Sixth Amendment, Defendant was entitled to the assistance of counsel for his defense. Attorneys appointed in and who provide legal representation under obedience to statute are entitled to

³⁵ Id.

³⁶ Id.

³⁷ Id.

³⁸ Id.

³⁹ 372 U.S. 335 (1963).

payment for such defense...”.⁴⁰ The statute does not change that. Nor is the right to counsel under the sixth amendment treated any differently than the right to counsel under the Iowa Constitution Art. I, § 10.

In 1981 the Iowa Supreme Court held that absent a statute or rule authorizing expenses in a case where an indigent client was able to hire private counsel, the client was entitled to those expenses under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution.⁴¹ Under Missildine the relevant factors were the client’s indigence and that the requested service was reasonable and necessary in the representation.⁴² The statute does not take away from Missildine, the statute still requires a showing of indigence and that the requested service be reasonable and necessary.⁴³ The statute uses more of Missildine. Like Missildine the statute allows the court to look at the finances of the case.⁴⁴ Like the concurrence in Missildine the statute requires a showing that the retainer has been used up before the client is entitled to public funds.⁴⁵ Lastly, like Missildine, the statute requires the

⁴⁰ 2 Greene 473 (Iowa 1850).

⁴¹ *Missildine* at 293.

⁴² *Id.* at 294.

⁴³ *Id.*

⁴⁴ *Id.* at 293-294.

⁴⁵ *Id.* at 295.

Defendant to follow rules enacted by the people's branch of government, the legislature; (...if the Defendant desires public funds he must play according to the rules ... provided by the general assembly).⁴⁶ As noted above, the requirements are common sense for reimbursement from public funds. The State has limited funds available, and to require an analysis of the finances of the representation is a common sense requirement of fiscal responsibility.

Moreover, the second aspect that has been called into question in this case, is that hired attorney does work for less or forgo necessary services for their client (i.e. depositions, investigations, hiring experts, etc.). Again, this is an inaccurate portrayal of 815.1. This Statute does not, in any way, limit what a privately retained attorney may charge their client as an hourly rate.

7. THE STATUTE DOES NOT DENY THE DEFENDANT DUE PROCESS OF LAW

The 5th and 14th Amendments of the United States Constitution provides, no State shall “deprive any person of life, liberty, or property,

⁴⁶ *Id.*

without due process of law.”⁴⁷ The Iowa Constitution is relatively similar, stating, “The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate ...but no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.”⁴⁸ The Fifth Amendment is likely not implicated here, there is not Federal Government action in this case, but the Defendant argues the statute violates the fifth and fourteenth amendments so this response will include the fifth and fourteenth amendments. Under State v. Fleming, both the federal and state provisions have the same “scope, import, and purpose.”⁴⁹ The analysis is the same for the Iowa Constitution Art. 1 §§ 1, 6, & 9.

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