# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA NO. 20-1346

### STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff

VS.

## RODRIGO AMAYA, Defendant-Appellee

# STATE PUBLIC DEFENDER. Appellant.

### APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY, HONORABLE SARAH CRANE

# DEFENDANT-APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Benjamin D. Bergmann
Alexander Smith
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn
Gentry Brown Bergmann
& Messamer L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email:asmith@parrishlaw.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

William Bushell
Assistant Public Defender
State Public Defender Office
Lucas Building, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor
321East 12<sup>th</sup> Street

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
I.	The Proper Form of Review
II.	Error Preservation
III.	Standard of Review
IV.	The Statute Limits Effective Assistance of Counsel as a Hobson's Choice
V.	The Statute Only Saves Money by Mandating Ineffective Assistance of Counsel, Violating Equal Protetion
VI.	The Statute Creates Systemic Ineffective Assistance of Counsel
VII.	English Should Be Upheld
VIII.	The State and SPD are asking for an advisory opinion

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal should be retained by the Iowa Court of Appeals because it is a case presenting the application of existing legal principles in accordance with 6.1101(3)(a). English v. Missildine, 311 N.W.2d 292, 294 (Iowa 1981) has already been decided. The court only need follow it.

### CASE STATEMENT

The legislature has enacted amendments to Iowa Code § 815.1 that threaten the right to effective assistance of counsel. The amendments to § 815.1 (SF 590) were discussed briefly by the Iowa House and the Iowa Senate before both chambers of the Iowa Legislature approved the amendments. In the House, Representative McKean explained that the bill "boils down to the best use of scarce resources" in the State Public Defender's Office, because "private defenders charge three to four times what public defenders are charging but are still asking for money for experts." Representative Konfrst also spoke out in favor of the bill. No representative discussed the possible constitutional implications of SF 590. House Video Apr. 15, 2019, https://www.legis.iowa.gov/dashboard?view=video&chamber=H&clip=h20 190415054800016&dt=2019-04-15&offset=685&bill=SF%20590&status=i.

In the Senate, Senator Garret stated that the "main point of the bill is . . . . state funds may only be approved if the retainer is insufficient if paid at the

same statutory rate as contract defenders," and described an estimated savings to state taxpayers of nearly \$200,000. Senator Garret went on to state that "[i]f the attorney and client want the taxpayer to [pay for services], they must follow the rules set out by the public defender system." He then referred to (unnamed) attorneys that "game the system and earn higher fees than they'd get if they participated in the public defender system from the beginning." Although Senator Hogg spoke out against the bill, his concern was that complying with the amendments to § 815.1 would require attorneys to lower their rates for services they had already performed and billed. No senator spoke about the constitutional implications of SF 590. Senate Video March 26,

https://www.legis.iowa.gov/dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s201 90326084831569&dt=2019-03-

26&offset=12905&bill=SF%20590&status=i

### FACTUAL BACKGROUND and COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

The State filed a Trial Information charging Rodrigo Amaya with Count I: Sexual Abuse in the Third Degree in violation of Iowa Code §§ 709.1(1), 709.4(1)(b)(1)(3)(d), and/or 709.4(1)(a) (Class C felony); Count II: Sexual Exploitation of a Minor-Manufacturing Child Pornography in violation of Iowa Code § 728.12(1) (Class C felony); Count III: Enticing

Away A Minor Under the Age of Sixteen to Commit an Illegal Sex Act or Sexploitation of a Minor in violation of Iowa Code § 710.10(2) (Class D felony); Count IV: Eluding in violation of Iowa Code § 321.279(3) (Class D Felony); and Count V: Sexual Exploitation of a Minor-Possession of Child Pornography in violation of Iowa Code § 728.12(3) (Aggravated Misdemeanor). (App. 009).

Mr. Amaya had private counsel appear on his behalf. Mr. Amaya filed a motion for private investigator and depositions at State expense based on his indigency, pursuant to English v. Missildine, 311 N.W.2d 292, 294 (Iowa 1981), and asked that the court find Iowa Code § 815.1 to be unconstitutional. (App. 013). The State Public Defender (hereinafter SPD) filed a resistance to the motion. (App. 037). The court ordered additional briefing from SPD and Mr. Amaya and Mr. Amaya's counsel provided additional requested information required information for in camera review. (App. 056/061).

The district court granted public funding. (App. 061). The court found that third parties had paid Mr. Amaya's private counsel a \$15,000 retainer, that defense counsel's hourly rate is \$300, and that defense counsel's firm had performed 75 hours of work and anticipated 70 more to complete the case. (App. 061). The court found that Iowa Code § 815.1 "ultimately conditions a defendant's constitutional right on the actions of a third party, resulting in

either a denial of the right to hire private counsel of choice through use of a third party's funds or the right to auxiliary defense services." (App. 061). The court found that while

the Iowa legislature may determine appropriate procedures to implement a constitutional right, those procedures cannot serve to deny access to the constitutional right. Through section 815.1, the Defendant's right to auxiliary services at State expense is conditioned on whether the private attorney will accept payment at a rate far below the customary private market. If the defense attorney will not accept lower rates and the Defendant (or family member) cannot afford to pay the private attorney their rate and also pay for auxiliary services, the defendant has two choices: 1) abandon the privately retained counsel and accept courtappointed counsel, at which point the defendant could obtain auxiliary services at state expense or 2) forego the additional auxiliary services.

(App. 061).

The court rejected the argument that Iowa Code § 815.1 does not force the statutory hourly rate on the privately retained attorney, stating this is untrue "if the retainer will not cover both the attorney's private rate and the costs of auxiliary services. In this particular case, by applying the Court-appointed rate, defendant is denied State funds for the investigator services that were requested and the retainer must be put toward the services. The retainer funds would then not be available to pay the attorney's market rate, thereby forcing the private attorney to accept the statutory hourly rate (or force the Defendant to forego the services." (App. 061). The court therefore held

that "815.1 violates the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel" and struck the portion of the statute that required the use of the statutory rate, instead applying the attorney's contractual rate. (App. 061). SPD filed a notice of appeal.

#### **ISSUES**

#### I. The Proper Form of Review

Mr. Amaya takes no position on the proper form of review for this case. The court should allow the case to "proceed as though the proper form of review had been requested," Iowa R. App. P. 6.108,

#### II. Error Preservation

Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1) requires that the appellant's brief should include a "statement addressing how the issue was preserved for appellate review, with references to the places in the record where the issue was raised and decided." Neither the State Public Defender's Brief nor the State's Amicus brief contain this section and do not contain any reference to how their arguments were raised in the district court or how they were decided below. It is not the responsibility of the appellate court to comb the record to find support for an issue. Hyler v. Garner, 548 N.W.2d 864, 876 (Iowa 1996). Therefore, Mr. Amaya does not agree with the appellant's statements on error preservation.

The State's amicus brief, in particular, makes several arguments not made by the State or the State Public Defender at the district court, including that English v. Missildine should be overturned, that the right to expert services comes from the right to due process and not the right to counsel, that the statute can be severed, and that portions of the statute can be saved and should not be severed.

An argument not made before the district court is waived. State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260, 291 (Iowa 2010). "Even issues implicating constitutional rights must be presented to and ruled upon by the district court in order to preserve error for appeal." Taft v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 828 N.W.2d 309, 322 (Iowa 2013). The appellate courts may affirm on an alternate ground than the one the district court did, but the alternate ground must first be urged in the district court. Jensen v. Sattler, 696 N.W.2d 582, 588 (Iowa 2005) (citing DeVoss v. State, 648 N.W.2d 56, 62 (Iowa 2002)) ("[The] supreme court may affirm on an alternate ground so long as it was urged in the district court."). The State waives argument if they do not present it to the district court in a manner that allows the court to fully and properly address it. State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785, 789 (Iowa 2013).

The court does not recognize a "plain error" rule which allows appellate review of challenges not preserved at the district court level in a proper and

timely manner. <u>State v. Hutchison</u>, 341 N.W.2d 33, 38-40 (Iowa 1983). "We do not subscribe to the plain error rule in Iowa, have been persistent and resolute in rejecting it, and are not at all inclined to yield on the point." <u>State v. Rutledge</u>, 600 NW 2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999).

Rather, Iowa requires error preservation. "Nothing is more basic in the law of appeal and error than the axiom that a party cannot sing a song to us that was not first sung in trial court." <u>Rutledge</u>, 600 N.W.2d at 325. The error preservation rule requires parties to alert the district court "to an issue at a time when corrective action can be taken." <u>Top of Iowa Co-op. v. Sime Farms, Inc.</u>, 608 N.W.2d 454, 470 (Iowa 2000).

Two things must happen at the district court for the issue to be preserved for appeal: a party must raise it, and the court must rule on it. Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) ("It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal."). Failure to preserve error typically arises in two ways: first, there are cases where a party raised an issue, but failed to secure a ruling from the trial court. See Meier, 641 N.W.2d 532; State v. Krogmann, 804 N.W.2d 518 (Iowa 2011). Second, there are cases where a party failed to raise the issue at the district court level at all. See State v. Hernandez-Lopez, 639 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 2002); Rutledge, 600

N.W.2d 324. The State failed to raise its arguments at all. The State Public Defender did not make these arguments for the State.

There are three main justifications for the error preservation rule. First, it gives notice to opposing counsel. State v. McCright, 569 N.W.2d 605, 608 (Iowa 1997). Second, it gives notice to the district court, so the court can "take any necessary corrective action at a time when correction is still possible." Id. The third is that allowing parties to raise issues on appeal that they did not raise at the district court seriously undermines the district court's original jurisdiction. Kinkead, 570 N.W.2d at 102.

The requirement to raise an issue in the district court is an essential part of the rule. Otherwise, litigants can sit on an issue at the trial level, and then complain later if the argument they relied on was not a winning one. The Iowa Supreme Court explains:

On closer reflection we think simple justice demands rigid adherence to the rule. The rule does not proceed, as cynics would have it, from some vague fear of blindsiding a trial judge, but rather from the very real fear of blindsiding the trial process. Long experience has taught us that the bulk of mistakes made at trial can and will be corrected whenever the trial court is alerted to them. The public should not be required to fund a system that would allow trial counsel to, as lawyers often phrase it, "bet on the outcome." After all the lawyer might be the only person in the courtroom alert to an error. It would be flagrantly unjust to allow such a lawyer to sit mute and complain only on appeal following an unfavorable outcome. Our cases are legion that hold error is waived unless preserved by a timely trial objection.

Rutledge, 600 N.W.2d at 326.

The failure to raise the argument at the district court level also failed to give notice to opposing counsel. This has resulted in the Appellee having to file a significantly longer brief than would be typical, without the opportunity to respond. The district court did not have the opportunity even to summarily reject the State's arguments. The State's arguments have not been preserved. They should be rejected outright.

#### III. Standard of Review

Mr. Amaya agrees with the appellant that the court's standard of review is *de novo*. However, he disagrees that the court should use the rational basis test. Instead, the court should review under strict scrutiny. Iowa Code § 815.1 violates Mr. Amaya's right to equal protection, under both the federal constitution (Amendments Five and Fourteen) and the Iowa Constitution, Article I, Sections 1 and 6. Iowa Code § 815.1 treats Mr. Amaya differently than other Iowans that do not hire their own counsel, through a third party.

Strict scrutiny is the correct constitutional analysis because Iowa Code § 815.1 involves Mr. Amaya's fundamental rights. The right to counsel is a fundamental right. The right to counsel, and therefore the right to effective counsel, is a fundamental right. <u>Kimmelman v. Morrison</u>, 477 U.S. 365, 374 (1986). "If a fundamental right is infringed, the level of judicial scrutiny is

raised from a rational relationship test to one of strict scrutiny. In that case, the statute will survive a constitutional challenge only if it is shown that the statute is narrowly drawn to serve a compelling state interest." <u>City of Panora</u> v. Simmons, 445 N.W.2d 363, 327 (Iowa 1989).

Indigent rights to services at state expense also touch upon equal protection concerns, as an affluent defendant will be able to afford both counsel of his choice and services, which the indigent would not. See English v. Missildine, 311 N.W.2d 292, 294 (Iowa 1981). It also touches upon equal protection concerns in the opposite way – indigent defendants with no third party willing or able to assist them in hiring counsel will have services available to them that individuals like Mr. Amaya will not. There is nothing more fundamental than "the right of reasonable access to courts to protect those inalienable rights possessed by all persons and recognized by both the United States and Iowa Constitutions." Lunday v. Vogelmann, 213 N.W.2d 904, 908 (Iowa 1973) (Reynolds, J., dissenting).

To be narrowly tailored, a statute must serve the compelling government interest by the least restrictive means. See Mitchell Cty. v. Zimmerman, 810 N.W.2d 1, 3–4 (Iowa 2012).

# IV. The Statute Limits Effective Assistance of Counsel as a Hobson's Choice

No case law supports forcing a choice between two constitutional

rights that don't already have some meaningful tension between them such that they are to some extent mutually exclusive. To be sure, "[t]he criminal process, like the rest of the legal system, is replete with situations requiring the making of difficult judgments as to which course to follow." McGautha v. California, 402 U.S. 183, 213, 91 S.Ct. 1454, 28 L.Ed.2d 711 (1971) (citation and punctuation omitted), vacated on other grounds sub. nom. Crampton v. Ohio, 408 U.S. 941, 92 S.Ct. 2873, 33 L.Ed.2d 765 (1972). "Although a defendant may have a right, even of constitutional dimensions, to follow whichever course he chooses, the Constitution does not by that token always forbid requiring him to choose." Id. But a defendant's constitutional rights may be violated when "compelling the election impairs to an appreciable extent any of the policies behind the rights involved." Id. Here, compelling an indigent defendant to choose between his two rights — accessing statefunded ancillary defense services and retaining his chosen pro bono counsel — potentially impairs to an appreciable extent one or both of those rights. There is no clear tension between the simultaneous exercise of those two rights that naturally leads to compelling such a choice.

Duke v. State, 856 S.E.2d 250, 260–61 (Ga. 2021) (Peterson, J. concurring).

The procedure of 815.1 essentially requires a privately retained attorney to adjust their rates of compensation to the state contract attorney rate – regardless of whether the attorney has agreed to work at that rate, and regardless of whether the attorney can operate their firm at that rate – simply because their client is indigent. See Iowa Code § 815.1(4)(c)(1) (directing the Court to determine whether a client has advanced sufficient funds to pay for services based on the hourly rate established by Iowa Code § 815.7; rather than the fee agreement between the indigent defendant and the attorney).

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